

Virginia Commonwealth University VCU Scholars Compass

Theses and Dissertations

Graduate School

2021

EFFECT OF STIMULUS WAVEFORM ON TRANSCRANIAL MAGNETIC STIMULATION METRICS IN PROXIMAL AND DISTAL ARM MUSCLES

Christopher Lynch

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarscompass.vcu.edu/etd

Part of the Bioelectrical and Neuroengineering Commons

© The Author

Downloaded from

https://scholarscompass.vcu.edu/etd/6780

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate School at VCU Scholars Compass. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of VCU Scholars Compass. For more information, please contact libcompass@vcu.edu.

© Christopher Lynch, 2021 All Rights Reserved

EFFECT OF STIMULUS WAVEFORM ON TRANSCRANIAL MAGNETIC STIMULATION METRICS IN PROXIMAL AND DISTAL ARM MUSCLES

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirement for the degree of Master of Science in Biomedical Engineering at Virginia Commonwealth University.

by

Christopher Lynch

B.S. Biomedical Engineering, North Carolina State University, 2017

Director: Carrie L. Peterson, Ph.D. Assistant Professor, Department of Biomedical Engineering Director, Rehabilitation Engineering to Advance Ability Lab (REALab)

> Virginia Commonwealth University Richmond, Virginia Summer 2021

Acknowledgements

The author wishes to thank several people. I would like to thank my family for their unending love and support throughout this long, stressful endeavor. I would also like to thank my colleagues, Thibault and Neil, for their contributions and support whilst pursuing their PhD's. Last but not least, I would like to thank Dr. Carrie Peterson. Not only for providing me the opportunity to pursue my degree, but sharing her wisdom and guiding me through graduate school.

Table of Contents

Acknow	ledgements	ii
List of F	igures	v
List of T	ables	. vii
List of A	bbreviations	viii
Abstract		ix
Chapter	1: Introduction	1
1.1	Neurophysiology of the Central Nervous System	1
1.1.	1 Neurons	1
1.1.	2 The Brain and its Motor Cortex	2
1.1.	3 The Spinal Cord	3
1.2	Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation	5
1.2.	1 Stimulation Characteristics	5
1.2.	2 Measuring Corticospinal Excitability	9
Chapter	2: Objectives and Methods	11
2.1	Objectives of the Study	11
2.2	Methods	12
2.2.	1 Participants	12
2.2.	2 Surface electromyogram	12
2.2.	3 Maximum voluntary isometric contraction	13
2.2.	4 Transcranial magnetic stimulation	13
2.2.	5 TMS metrics	14
2.2.	6 Data and statistical analysis	14
2.2.	7 Post-hoc analysis	15
Chapter Distal Ai	3: Effect of Stimulus Waveform on Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation Metrics in Proximal and rm Muscles	d 15
3.1	Introduction	15
3.2	Results	17
3.2.	1 Effect of Stimulus Waveform on TMS Metrics	17
3.2.	2 Effect of Target Muscle (Biceps or FDI) on TMS Metrics	18
3.2.3 Test-Retest Reliability of TMS Metrics		19
3.3	Discussion	21
3.3.	1 The effect of waveform on RMT, AMT, and nMEPs	22
3.3.2 The effect of waveform on MEP latencies		22
3.3.	3 The effect of waveform on test-retest reliability	23
Chapter	4: Conclusions and Future Directions	23

4.1	Work Completed	24
4.2	Key Takeaways	24
4.3	Limitations	25
4.4	Future Directions	
Refere	nces	
Append	dix A: Conference Abstracts	32
Vita		

List of Figures

Figure 1: Anatomy of the neuron depicting the direction of signal propagation [31]
Figure 2: (a) Functional regions of the cerebral cortex [41]. (b) Topographical representation of the primary motor cortex (M1) [42]
Figure 3: (a) Ascending Tracts of the CNS. Nerve signals, such as sensory, carry information from the bottom of the spinal cord to the cerebral cortex at the top. (b) Descending Tracts of the CNS. Nerve signals, such as motor commands, that originate in the cerebral cortex are carried down the spinal cord to skeletal muscles [42]
Figure 4: (a) Monophasic TMS Waveform. (b) Biphasic TMS Waveform. (a-b) The lighter curve represents current in the stimulation coil. The darker curve represents the voltage in the stimulation coil and the induced voltage in the brain. The shaded areas are peak voltages when neuronal membranes are most likely to depolarize [54]
Figure 5: (a) Magnetic and electric field produced by figure-eight TMS coil. Black arrows depict current direction within the coil. Small grey arrows forming circles depict the magnetic field generated from the coil. Large grey arrow depict induced electrical current in the brain [54]. (b) Superior view of anatomical directions. The central sulcus is highlighted in red
Figure 6: Simulation models of 50 TMS coil configurations: (1) Animal mini-coil, (2) Magstim 50 mm circular coil (P/N 9999), (3) 50 mm circular coil with iron core, (4) Magstim 70 mm circular coil (P/N 3192), (5) Magstim 90 mm circular coil (P/N 3192), (6) Magstim animal MST coil, (7) Magstim human MST coil (S/N MP39), (8) Brainsway H coil, (9) Brainsway H1 coil, (10) H1 coil with frontal iron core, (11) H1 coil with lateral iron core, (12) Brainsway H1L coil, (13) Brainsway H2 coil, (14) Brainsway HADD coil, (15) Magstim cap coil, (16) crown coil, (17) crown coil with back-splayed winding, (18) crown coil with back-splayed winding, (19) supraorbital halo coil, (20) MRI z-gradient coil in parallel-current (Helmholz) mode, (21) 3-layer double coil, (22) double butterfly, (23) circular slinky-7 coil, (24) rectangular slinky-7 coil, (25) Magstim 25 mm figure-8 (P/N 1165), (26) Cadwell Corticoil, (27) Cadwell B-shaped coil, (28) 50 mm V-coil, (29) MagVenture C-B65 butterfly coil, (30) MagVenture MC-B70 butterfly coil, (31) Magstim 70 mm figure-8 coil (P/N 9925, 3190), (32) 70 mm figure-8 coil (CRS 2100), (35) MagVenture D-B80 butterfly coil, (36) MagVenture MST twin coil, (37) Magstim double cone coil with center-sparse windings, (40) stretched C-core coil, (41) 3-D differential coil, (42) 3-D coil array #1, (43) 3-D coil array #3, (45) Cadwell cloverleaf coil, (46) circular coil array, (47) Magstim 70 mm figure-8 coil in reversed-current mode, (48) 70 mm figure-8 with active shield (7 turns), (49) MRI z-gradient coil opposing-current (Maxwell) mode, and (50) MRI x- (or y-) gradient (Golay) coil. The last configuration, labeled "0", is the ideal "flux ball" coil whose windings are parallel to the circles of latitude of the spherical model and cover the whole head [9]
Figure 7: Induced electric field distribution on the brain surface by the 50 TMS coils from Figure 6. The electric field magnitude is plotted with a color map normalized to the field maximum in the brain, for each coil. The arrows indicate the electric field direction [9]
Figure 8: Classic single-pulse TMS technique [10]
Figure 9: Participants were seated upright with an elbow angle of 90° and straps were used to secure the arm. (A) The arm was supinated for biceps measurements. (B) The arm was pronated for FDI measurements and an additional device was placed against the inner wall of the cast for FDI contractions

Figure 10: TMS pulse waveforms and corresponding induced current directions in the brain tested in this study. (A) Diagram showing mono _{PA} and bi _{PA-AP} magnetic waveforms generated by the stimulators (B) Location of the TMS coil over the motor cortex, perpendicular to central sulcus, and arrows depicting induced current direction(s) in the brain.	s. 14
Figure 11: Motor thresholds were lower with monoPA stimulation compared to biPA-AP stimulation in bomuscles. Asterisks represent statistical difference (p<0.01) and error bars represent one standard deviation.	th 18
Figure 12: (A) Normalized MEPs did not differ between waveforms for the biceps while nMEPs were greater for FDI when obtained with mono _{PA} compared to bi _{PA-AP} stimulation. Asterisks represent statistical difference (p<0.01) and error bars represent one standard deviation. (B) Motor evoked potential latencies did not differ by stimulation type. Asterisks represent statistical difference (p<0.01) and error bars represent one standard deviation.	19

List of Tables

Table 1:	Motor threshold metrics for each participant and session	20
Table 2:	Average nMEP amplitudes for each participant and session	21

List of Abbreviations

Physiological Abbreviations

Cl	Calcium
K+	Potassium
Na ⁺	Sodium
CNS	Central nervous system
FDI	First dorsal interosseous
M1	Primary motor cortex

General Abbreviations

AMT	Active motor threshold
EMG	Electromyography
MEP	Motor evoked potential
MSO	Maximum stimulator output
nMEP	Normalized motor evoked potential
RMT	Resting motor threshold
rTMS	Repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation
SCI	Spinal cord injury
TMS	Transcranial magnetic stimulation
MVIC	Maximum voluntary isometric contraction
PA	Posterior-Anterior
AP	Anterior-Posterior

Abstract

EFFECT OF STIMULUS WAVEFORM ON TRANSCRANIAL MAGNETIC STIMULATION METRICS IN PROXIMAL AND DISTAL ARM MUSCLES

Christopher Lynch

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirement for the degree of Master of Science in Biomedical Engineering at Virginia Commonwealth University.

> Director: Carrie L. Peterson, Ph.D. Assistant Professor, Department of Biomedical Engineering Director, Rehabilitation Engineering to Advance Ability Lab (REALab)

> > Virginia Commonwealth University Richmond, Virginia Summer 2021

Transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) is useful for modulating neural activity when applied repetitively or assessing neural pathway excitability when applied in single or dual pulse paradigms. TMS devices generate one of two types of stimulus waveforms, monophasic or biphasic, which have dissimilar neuronal activation and therefore different impacts on stimulation effectiveness. Efficacy can be quantified via motor evoked potential (MEP) amplitudes in response to suprathreshold stimuli that represent corticospinal excitability and resting motor thresholds (RMTs), and active motor thresholds (AMT) that represent motor cortical excitability. MEPs vary based on the waveform and direction of the current induced in the brain, being either anterior-to-posterior (AP) or posterior-to-anterior (PA) direction. For instance, studies targeting distal muscles of the upper limb, such as the first dorsal interosseous (FDI), have demonstrated greater efficacy of monophasic stimulation that induces a PA current in the brain relative to biphasic stimulation that induces a PA then AP (bi_{PA-AP}) current in the brain by showing reduced RMT with monophasic PA (mono_{PA}) stimulation. The effect of stimulation waveform on TMS metrics have been extensively studied for hand muscles. However, induced current effects on more proximal muscles of the upper limb, such as the biceps brachii, remains to be fully elucidated. Thus, the primary objective of this study was to determine the effect of stimulation type on TMS metrics in the biceps, and in the FDI to provide context of our cohort in light of previous findings. A second objective was to determine the test-retest reliability of TMS metrics for each waveform and muscle. Individuals participated in two sessions. Surface electromyogram (EMG) electrodes were placed over the primary target muscles (biceps and FDI). Maximum voluntary isometric contractions (MVICs) were recorded to normalize MEPs (nMEPs) to the maximum EMG and to determine the AMT during 20% effort. RMT was determined as the lowest stimulus intensity that induced MEPs of ≥ 50 μ V in at least 5 of 10 consecutive stimuli with the target muscle fully relaxed. AMT was determined during an isometric contraction of $20 \pm 2.5\%$ of their target muscle MVIC as the stimulus intensity that elicited a MEP $\ge 200\mu$ V in at least 5 of 10 consecutive stimuli. Ten MEPs were recorded at 120% of RMT for each waveform. TMS stimulation was applied via a Magstim® BiStim² stimulator (monophasic) and Magstim® Super Rapid² Plus¹ stimulator (biphasic), both using a Magstim® D70 Alpha flat (uncoated) coil. RMTs and AMTs were lower for monopa stimulation compared to bipa-AP stimulation for both the biceps and the FDI, and demonstrated high test-retest reliability. Normalized MEP amplitudes were greater with monopa than bipA-AP in the FDI, but presented no difference in the biceps. Test-retest reliability of FDI nMEP amplitudes was poor, while moderate reliability was seen in the biceps. This study suggests that current TMS waveform research on upper limb distal muscles is translatable to proximal muscles for motor thresholds but not for MEPs, and test-retest reliability and nMEPs are sensitive to differences in the cortical representations of distal and proximal muscles of the upper limb and lack intermuscular reliability. While further research is needed to elucidate the effect of these two waveforms, this study provides a framework for expected TMS metrics in distal and proximal muscles of the upper limb.

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1 Neurophysiology of the Central Nervous System

The central nervous system (CNS) is a complex network, composed of the brain and spinal cord, responsible for processing and controlling the body's movements [42,51]. The CNS receives information about changes in the external environment and body movement which is processed by the brain. Utilizing this information, and past memories, the brain determines the most appropriate course of action and transmits this decision to the rest of the body via the spinal cord [42,51]. The cells that contain and transport these decisions from the brain, through the spinal cord, and to the rest of the body are referred to as neurons [42,51].

1.1.1 Neurons

Neurons are specialized cells that function as the body's commutation system (Figure 1). They respond to external changes (i.e., stimuli) by generating electrical signals known as action potentials, which they transmit to other cells throughout the body [42,51]. Action potential propagation begins at the post-synaptic terminal where neurotransmitters act on membrane receptors and alter the membrane potential. If the neurotransmitters induce a negative change in membrane potential relative to its resting state, the cell hyperpolarizes via an inward flow of Cl⁻ and outward flow of K⁺ [15]. Whereas if the neurotransmitters induce a positive change in membrane potential relative to its resting state, the cell depolarizes via an inward flow of Na⁺ [15]. Should the membrane sufficiently depolarize and reach the threshold potential, the neuron will generate an action potential and simultaneously increase the membranes conductance to K⁺ to return the membrane potential to its resting state [15]. The action potential rapidly propagates down the axon towards the pre-synaptic terminal at the other end of the neuron. Each end of the neuron, i.e., the site of communication between two neurons, is known as a synapse [51]. When the action potential reaches the synapse, the neuron secretes a chemical referred to as a neurotransmitter which diffuses across to the post-synaptic terminal of the next neuron where this neuron is either stimulated or inhibited [42,51]. The neurotransmitter secreted by the pre-synaptic cell will determine whether the post-synaptic cell is stimulated or inhibited [15,42,51].





There are three types of neurons which can be determined via their synapse: sensory neurons, interneurons, and motor neurons [42]. Sensory neurons (located in the peripheral nervous system (PNS)) detect external stimuli and transmit information to neurons in the CNS [42]. Interneurons (located completely in the CNS) receive information from sensory neurons, process the information, and transmit the body's intended response to the external stimuli to the motor neurons [42]. Motor neurons (located in the PNS) receive the decision of the body's response to the stimuli and transmit that signal predominately to muscle and gland cells [42]. There are two different types of motor neurons: upper motor neurons and lower motor neurons. Upper motor neuron cell bodies are located within the CNS, particularly in the cerebral cortex of the brain [31]. Lower motor neuron cell bodies are located within the motor neurons project to either interneurons in the spinal cord or directly to the lower motor neurons, which are connected skeletal muscle fibers [31]. Lower motor neurons are only capable of exciting skeletal muscle tissue, making them the only link between the brain and the muscles.

1.1.2 The Brain and its Motor Cortex

The brain, the most complex organ in the human body, contains roughly 20 billion neurons each of which simultaneously receive and process information from thousands of synapses [31]. The cerebral cortex amounts for nearly 40% of the mass of the brain and contains roughly 14-16 billion neurons [42]. Approximately 75% of the brains total neurons are located in the cerebral cortex because it is the part of the brain that performs the most complicated neural functions, and analytical and integrative processing of this magnitude requires vast amounts of neurons [31]. Within the cerebral cortex, each primary region is paired with an association area (Figure 2a) [31,42].

The primary motor region receives input from sense organs or the brainstem, and transmits motor command output to motor nerve fibers in the brainstem for distribution to the cranial and spinal nerves [42]. On the other hand, the motor association (premotor) area involves the interpretation of sensory or motor input, planning of motor output, cognitive processing, and the storage and retrieval of memories [31,42]. First, the motivation for movement is developed in the premotor area. This is where a motor plan is created which details the degree and sequence of muscle activation. When finalized, the motor plan is then transmitted via interneurons to upper motor neurons in the primary motor area [42]. The primary motor area is topographically organized by cortical representations of voluntary muscles (Figure 2b), the size of which are represented unequally for each muscle [51]. The amount of cortical area for a given muscles corresponds to the degree of complexity in the movements each muscle performs. For instance, the hands require more skilled, complex, and delicate movements, thus have a much larger cortical representation than the feet [51]. However, the boundaries between these cortical areas are not precisely defined and there is overlap between adjacent areas [42]. Finally, the upper motor neurons then relay the motor plan down to the lower motor neurons in the brainstem and spinal cord via descending pathways, resulting in muscle activation [42].





1.1.3 The Spinal Cord

The spinal cord is imperative to the CNS as it serves as the bridge that connects the brain to the rest of the body below the neck. This is accomplished via ascending sensory tracts and descending motor tracts. Ascending tracts transmit sensory information from the base of the spinal cord up to the top and into the cerebral cortex of the brain (Figure 3a). There are three specific neurons that carry out this task: first-order neuron, second-order neuron, and third-order neuron [31,42,51]. The first-order neuron is at the base of the spinal cord and conducts a signal when it detects a stimuli, the second-order neuron receives the signal from the first-order neuron and carries it to the upper end of the brainstem where it passes the signal to the third-order neuron, which carries the signal the rest of the way to the cerebral cortex [31,42,51]. Descending tracts, on the other hand, transmit motor information from the cerebral cortex down to the bottom of the spinal cord (Figure 3b). There are two specific neurons that carry out this task: upper motor neurons and lower motor neurons [31,42]. The upper motor neuron begins in the cerebral cortex or brainstem and carries the motor signal out of the brain where the axon termites on a lower motor neuron within the brainstem or spinal cord, in which the lower motor neuron carries the motor signal the rest of the way to the target [42]. The upper motor neurons extend to the lower motor neurons via direct and indirect pathways. Direct pathways provide signals to the lower motor neurons directly from the cerebral cortex, while indirect pathways provide signals to the lower motor neurons via motor centers in the brainstem [42,51]. The direct pathways, also known as the pyramidal pathways, consist of axons descending from pyramidal cells in the primary and premotor area which transmit action potentials propagated in the cerebral cortex directly to the lower motor neurons [31,51]. Upper motor neurons that have pyramid-shaped bodies are pyramidal neurons. The corticospinal tract, a part of the pyramidal tract, contains axons that travel down upper motor neurons and terminate of lower motor neurons in the spinal cord which transmit information for precise, coordinated, voluntary movement [31,42,51].



Figure 3: (a) Ascending Tracts of the CNS. Nerve signals, such as sensory, carry information from the bottom of the spinal cord to the cerebral cortex at the top. (b) Descending Tracts of the CNS. Nerve signals, such as motor commands, that originate in the cerebral cortex are carried down the spinal cord to skeletal muscles [42].

1.2 Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation

Transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) is a non-invasive form of brain stimulation in which a rapid change in magnetic field (i.e., a pulse) generates an electrical current in the brain through electromagnetic induction. The electrical current can be targeted in a specific region of the brain. Should the electrical field cause depolarization of neurons an action potential is generated and motor neurons are recruited causing an invoked muscle twitch, which can be recorded as a motor-evoked potential (MEP) [36]. The type and quantity of neurons that are recruited during an action potential are determined by the induced current generated via the current passed through the coil [1,5,12,27].

1.2.1 Stimulation Characteristics

The basic functionality of a magnetic stimulator (including the coil) can be reduced to three elements in a simple circuit: capacitor, inductor, switch. The capacitor (stimulation unit) stores the high voltage energy while the switch is open, but when the switch closes the circuit is complete and the energy is discharged from the capacitor and flows to the inductor (stimulation coil) [54]. Additional components are added to the simplified circuit to prevent the energy from continuously oscillating after a single pulse, however, this is how different pulse types are formed.

There are two main types of pulse configurations that are generated within a magnetic stimulator: monophasic and biphasic (Figure 4). Monophasic pulses are dampened after the first guarter-cycle of a sine wave resulting in a strong, short duration current flow in one direction followed by a weak, non-stimulating, current flow in the opposite direction [7,12]. Monophasic pulses have a single phase of stimulation and are thus mainly used to measure cortical excitability with single and paired pulses. Biphasic pulses are allowed to flow for a full sine cycle thus consisting of two half segments of equal amplitude and opposite direction current flow [7,12]. The reverse (2nd) phase reduces the neuronal excitation inhibited from the initial phase as well as activates different neurons that are more sensitive to current flow in that particular direction [49]. During the full sine wave of a biphasic pulse, energy in the inductor returns to the capacitor rather than being dissipated like with the monophasic pulse [54]. The return of energy to the capacitor decreases the charge time and allows for stimulations to be repeated more than 50 times per second [7,49]. Due to the high stimulation frequency, biphasic stimulation is mainly used to measure cortical excitability with repetitive pulses [7,49].



Figure 4: (a) Monophasic TMS Waveform. (b) Biphasic TMS Waveform. (a-b) The lighter curve represents current in the stimulation coil. The darker curve represents the voltage in the stimulation coil and the induced voltage in the brain. The shaded areas are peak voltages when neuronal membranes are most likely to depolarize [54].

The effect each waveform has on depolarization can be further varied depending on the direction induced current flows within the brain, which can be determined by coil placement. A figure-8 coil, with current flowing posteriorly to anteriorly, will generate a magnetic field that penetrates into the brain inducing electrical current that flows at right angles with respect to the coil orientation (Figure 5) [54]. Therefore, when the coil is oriented perpendicular to the central sulcus and current in the coil is flowing posterior to anterior, the resulting induced current in the brain is in the posterior-anterior (PA) direction. To induce current in the brain in the anterior-posterior (AP) direction, either the coil can be turned 180 degrees or the current in the coil can be changed to flow anterior to posterior. Along with waveform pulses, the direction of induced current flow in the brain can determine the types and quantity of activated neurons. Monophasic pulses produce earlier and more focal activity when current flows PA, compared to current flowing AP [49].





In addition to pulse configuration, focality of the TMS coil also affects neuronal activation. Focality, defined by the half-value electrical field spread (S_{1/2}), measures the electrical field spread tangentially across the brains surface, while accounting for depth of electrical field penetration [9]. The shape and size of the TMS coil (Figure 6) affects the focality and depth of stimulation (Figure 7). Each TMS is subject to a depth-focality tradeoff, where lower S_{1/2} represents higher focality. While the half-value depth (d_{1/2}) of electrical field penetration is similar for both circular (1.0-3.5 cm) and figure-8 (0.9-3.4 cm) coils, focality is higher in the figure-8 coils (5-261 cm²) than the circular coils (34-273 cm²) [9]. Thus, figure-8 coils are more commonly used due to their higher focality.



Figure 6: Simulation models of 50 TMS coil configurations: (1) Animal mini-coil, (2) Magstim 50 mm circular coil (P/N 9999), (3) 50 mm circular coil with iron core, (4) Magstim 70 mm circular coil (P/N 3192), (5) Magstim 90 mm circular coil (P/N 3192), (6) Magstim animal MST coil, (7) Magstim human MST coil (S/N MP39), (8) Brainsway H coil, (9) Brainsway H1 coil, (10) H1 coil with frontal iron core, (11) H1 coil with lateral iron core, (12) Brainsway H1L coil, (13) Brainsway H2 coil, (14) Brainsway HADD coil, (15) Magstim cap coil, (16) crown coil, (17) crown coil with back-splayed winding, (18) crown coil with backspaced winding, (19) supraorbital halo coil, (20) MRI z-gradient coil in parallel-current (Helmholz) mode, (21) 3-layer double coil, (22) double butterfly, (23) circular slinky-7 coil, (24) rectangular slinky-7 coil, (25) Magstim 25 mm figure-8 (P/N 1165), (26) Cadwell Corticoil, (27) Cadwell B-shaped coil, (28) 50 mm Vcoil, (29) MagVenture C-B65 butterfly coil, (30) MagVenture MC-B70 butterfly coil, (31) Magstim 70 mm figure-8 coil (P/N 9925, 3190), (32) 70 mm figure-8 with shielding plate, (33) 70 mm figure-8 with active shield (5 turns), (34) Neuronetics iron core figure-8 coil (CRS 2100), (35) MagVenture D-B80 butterfly coil, (36) MagVenture MST twin coil, (37) Magstim double cone coil (P/N 9902), (38) eccentric double cone coil with center-dense windings, (39) eccentric double cone coil with center-sparse windings, (40) stretched C-core coil, (41) 3-D differential coil, (42) 3-D coil array #1, (43) 3-D coil array #2, (44) 3-D coil array #3, (45) Cadwell cloverleaf coil, (46) circular coil array, (47) Magstim 70 mm figure-8 coil in reversed-current mode, (48) 70 mm figure-8 with active shield (7 turns), (49) MRI z-gradient coil opposing-current (Maxwell) mode, and (50) MRI x- (or y-) gradient (Golay) coil. The last configuration,

labeled "0", is the ideal "flux ball" coil whose windings are parallel to the circles of latitude of the spherical model and cover the whole head [9].



Figure 7: Induced electric field distribution on the brain surface by the 50 TMS coils from Figure 6. The electric field magnitude is plotted with a color map normalized to the field maximum in the brain, for each coil. The arrows indicate the electric field direction [9].

1.2.2 Measuring Corticospinal Excitability

1.2.2.1 I-Waves & D-Waves

A TMS pulse targeted over the primary motor cortex (M1) can induce corticospinal descending activity composed of a series of high-frequency waves termed D-waves and I-waves [6,20,56]. The earliest wave that is recorded following cortical activation, the D-wave, originates from direct activation of cortical layer-V pyramidal tract neurons (PTNs), while I-waves have a greater latency and originate from indirect trans-synaptic activation of layer-V PTNs [5,13,56]. Furthermore, the current direction (PA or AP) induced in M1 from the TMS coil influences the activation of different types of I-waves [5,6,13,20,56]. At low intensity, monoPA current evokes a monosynaptic descending wave consisting of early I-waves (I1 wave) that reflects the indirect activation of local cortico-cortical connections projecting to PTNs in cortical layers II-III [5.6.13.20]. At high intensity, monopa current evokes polysynaptic chains that begin to consist of later I-waves (I2-I5 waves) in layers II-III [5,13]. A further increase in intensity evokes D-waves, reflecting the direct activation of PTNs in cortical layer V [11,13]. Meanwhile, monoAP current evokes later I-waves with greater latencies that reflects the indirect activation of horizontal cortico-cortical connections from surrounding regions that project to PTNs in cortical layers II-III [5,6,13,20]. On the other hand, biphasic pulses (PA-AP and AP-PA) evoke a more complex pattern of I-waves and D-waves where stimulus intensity affects neuronal recruitment and the combination of current direction has competing effects [5,6]. The descending volley resulting from neuronal depolarization induced by a TMS pulse targeted over M1, ultimately recruits motor units eliciting a muscle response, or MEP, on the contralateral side of the body [20] (Figure 8). MEP amplitudes indirectly measure changes in corticospinal motor pathway activation (corticomotor excitability) using electromyography (EMG) on the target muscle [7,49,36].



Classic single-pulse TMS technique

Figure 8: Classic single-pulse TMS technique [10].

1.2.2.2 Stimulus Intensity & Motor Thresholds

The intensity of TMS used to elicit MEPs in M1 is determined based on individual cortical thresholds because M1 is the only region where excitation effects have a directly measurable physiological effect (i.e. MEPs) [26]. Motor thresholds are defined as the minimum stimulation intensity required to elicit a muscle response, which is determined by a MEP of minimal amplitude. The minimum TMS stimulation intensity required to elicit MEPs of 50% of 5 to 10 trials in a fully relaxed muscle is referred to as the resting motor threshold (RMT) [27,39]. The active motor threshold (AMT) is determined as the minimum TMS stimulation to elicit MEPs of at least 200 μ V peak-to-peak amplitude in roughly 50% of 5 to 10 trials in a slightly contracted muscle, typically 20% of the maximum voluntary isometric contraction (MVIC) [28,39]. RMT reflects the neuronal membrane threshold, while AMT reflects the quantity of axons near firing threshold [22].

Chapter 2: Objectives and Methods

2.1 Objectives of the Study

The effect of stimulation waveform on TMS metrics have been extensively studied for hand muscles [5,7,33,35,49]. However, induced current effects on more proximal muscles of the upper limb, such as the biceps brachii, remains to be fully elucidated. Induced current effects on TMS efficacy may be different in proximal relative to distal muscles. In order to optimize the utility of TMS for clinical neurorehabilitation, an understanding of whether the effect of stimulation waveform on TMS metrics differs according to the target muscle is needed.

Despite the many studies investigating the effects of stimulus waveform on TMS metrics [5,7,33,35,49], no prior work has compared the effect of monoPA and biPA-AP stimulation on TMS metrics of a proximal arm muscle, such as the biceps brachii. Elucidating the effect of these two waveforms is needed considering biPA-AP is the most common waveform used to deliver rTMS protocols that aim to promote neuroplasticity [29,50], and monoPA is the most common waveform used to assess changes in excitability after rTMS [29,50]. As clinicians and researchers design rTMS protocols targeting the biceps, it is important to know whether assessment of corticomotor excitability may differ by monoPA or biPA-AP stimulation, given that many rTMS devices only deliver biphasic stimulation. Use of a single stimulator to deliver rTMS and assess TMS metrics is advantageous regarding study design and clinical feasibility.

Thus, the primary objective of this study was to determine the effect of stimulation type (monoPA vs biPA-AP) on RMT, AMT, and MEP amplitudes in the biceps. We also tested the effect of stimulation type on RMT, AMT, and MEP amplitudes in the FDI to provide context of our cohort in light of previous findings [5,7,33,35,49]. A second

objective was to determine the test-retest reliability of RMT, AMT, and MEP amplitudes for each waveform (monoPA and biPA-AP) and muscle (biceps and FDI).

2.2 Methods

2.2.1 Participants

Twelve individuals aged 24.5 \pm 3.5 years (5 female, 7 male) were recruited for this study which was approved by the Institutional Review Board (IRB) at Virginia Commonwealth University (VCU). Data from two participants were excluded because their RMT with bi_{PA-AP} stimulation could not be determined within the maximum stimulator output (MSO) range of our system. Inclusion criteria were non-impaired participants that were free of contradictions for TMS. Exclusion criterion were individuals with neurologic and/or musculoskeletal disorder or injury. Individuals participated in two sessions. For all protocols, participants were seated in a semi-reclined chair with the arm supported against gravity (Figure 9).



Figure 9: Participants were seated upright with an elbow angle of 90° and straps were used to secure the arm. (A) The arm was supinated for biceps measurements. (B) The arm was pronated for FDI measurements and an additional device was placed against the inner wall of the cast for FDI contractions.

2.2.2 Surface electromyogram

Surface electromyogram (EMG) electrodes were placed on the dominant arm after the skin was shaved and cleaned with alcohol wipes. Surface EMG electrodes (Trigno[™] Wireless System; Delsys, Natick, MA) were located over the primary target

muscles (biceps and FDI). Trigno[™] Avanti sensors were located on the biceps brachii, while the Trigno[™] Mini sensors were located on the FDI. EMG signals were amplified (x909) and bandpass-filtered at 20-450 Hz prior to analog to digital conversion (Micro 1401 MkII, Cambridge Electron Design, Cambridge, UK). All EMG data were sampled at 2 kHz with Spike2 software (Cambridge Electronic Design, Cambridge, UK).

2.2.3 Maximum voluntary isometric contraction

We recorded maximum voluntary isometric contractions (MVICs) to normalize MEPs to the maximum EMG [19] and to determine the AMT during 20% effort [39]. To establish the MVIC, participants were asked to maximally flex their elbow (biceps) or abduct their index finger (FDI) and hold for five seconds. To encourage maximum contraction, participants were motivated by the researchers and were provided visual feedback of the EMG signal as a bar graph (Figure 9). Participants completed three maximum contraction trials separated by one minute of rest for each muscle. The greatest root mean squared (RMS) value was computed from these trials over a 500 ms window at the maximum amplitude [45].

2.2.4 Transcranial magnetic stimulation

To determine the effect of stimulus waveform on RMT, AMT, and normalized MEP (nMEP) amplitudes, monophasic and biphasic pulses were delivered in separate blocks, each for the biceps and FDI resulting in four blocks. Each of the four blocks consisted of the same structure; only the stimulus waveform (monoPA or biPA-AP) and muscle (biceps or FDI) differed across each block where waveform order was randomized each session and biceps measurements always preceded FDI measurements. TMS stimulation was applied via a Magstim® BiStim² stimulator (monophasic) and Magstim® Super Rapid² Plus¹ stimulator (biphasic), both using a Magstim® D70 Alpha flat (uncoated) coil. The coil was oriented perpendicular to the central sulcus (or about 45° from a parasagittal plane aligned with the corpus callosum) as to induce a PA then AP current in the brain with biPA-AP stimulation or a PA current in the brain with monoPA stimulation.



Figure 10: TMS pulse waveforms and corresponding induced current directions in the brain tested in this study. (A) Diagram showing monoPA and biPA-AP magnetic waveforms generated by the stimulators. (B) Location of the TMS coil over the motor cortex, perpendicular to central sulcus, and arrows depicting induced current direction(s) in the brain.

2.2.5 TMS metrics

Single-pulse TMS was delivered to the motor cortex contralateral to the target arm while at rest. Using the vertex as a reference, the coil was positioned perpendicular to the central sulcus (or about 45° from a parasagittal plane aligned with the corpus callosum). Through a motor mapping procedure, the motor hotspot was identified as the location that evoked the largest peak-to-peak MEP amplitude in the target muscle using the lowest stimulation intensity. This hotspot location was marked on a cap secured on the participant's head and all subsequent stimulations were applied to this hotspot. All biceps measurements were recorded when the biceps motor hotspot was determined, prior to determining the FDI motor hotspot and recording all FDI measurements. RMT was determined as the lowest stimulus intensity that induced MEPs of \geq 50 μ V in at least 5 of 10 consecutive stimuli with the target muscle fully relaxed [38]. With visual feedback of their effort provided (Figure 9), participants sustained an isometric contraction of $20 \pm 2.5\%$ of their target muscle MVIC during which the AMT was determined as the stimulus intensity that elicited a MEP $\ge 200\mu$ V in at least 5 of 10 consecutive stimuli [39]. Stimulus intensity was determined using an adaptive parameter estimation by sequential testing (PEST) software [2]. Lastly, ten single pulse MEPs were recorded at 120% of RMT for each waveform [5,7].

2.2.6 Data and statistical analysis

MEP amplitudes were calculated from the biceps and FDI EMG data using custom-written MATLAB (MathWorks (2020)) code. Peak-to-peak MEP amplitudes were normalized to the RMS of the participant's MVIC recorded during the same session, with the ratio multiplied by a scaling factor of 100. Normalized MEPs served as our measure of corticomotor excitability. MEP latencies were calculated by measuring the time from the triggered stimulus to the onset of the MEP, accounting for offsets in EMG hardware and Spike2 software.

A Kolmogorov-Smirnov test revealed that all TMS metrics are normally distributed (p<0.01). The following were compared between stimulation type and muscle using two-tailed student's t-tests: RMT, AMT, nMEP amplitudes, and MEP latencies. To examine test-retest reliability of the motor thresholds across two sessions, Wilcoxon matched-pairs tests were calculated [17]. Intraclass correlation coefficients (ICCs) were calculated with the ICC(A,1) formula to examine the reliability of nMEPs [32]. ICC values were interpreted as high (ICC \ge 0.75), moderate (0.50 \le ICC < 0.75), low (0.25 \le ICC < 0.50), and very low to none (ICC < 0.25) [37]. Statistical analyses were performed using MATLAB and GraphPad Prism. Statistical significance was set at p<0.05.

2.2.7 Post-hoc analysis

When RMTs are large enough that suprathreshold MEPs (i.e., 120% of RMT) would be recorded at greater than 100% MSO, the MEPs may be considered under stimulated [5]. This under stimulation can increase the variability in MEP amplitude [27]. Sixty percent of biceps RMT values determined with bi_{PA-AP} stimulation were larger than 84% MSO resulting in under stimulation. A two-tailed student's t-test comparing biceps bi_{PA-AP} nMEPs larger than 84% RMT and less than 84% RMT determined whether under stimulation affected our results. Since our nMEP reliability was inconsistent with previous findings in the FDI [4,5,30] and in the biceps [43], we calculated a two-sample F-test [21] to determine if our variance across sessions was consistent with our reliability findings [43].

Chapter 3: Effect of Stimulus Waveform on Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation Metrics in Proximal and Distal Arm Muscles

3.1 Introduction

Transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) is a non-invasive form of brain stimulation that is useful for modulating neural activity when applied repetitively or assessing neural pathway excitability and inhibition when applied in single or dual pulse paradigms [27]. Commercial TMS devices generate either a monophasic waveform or a biphasic waveform [49]. Each of these waveforms can be distinguished via the length and duration of the first and second phase of the pulse. The biphasic waveform results from a full sine-wave which generates two pulses of equal amplitude and opposite polarity that facilitate the production of more than 50 pulses per second [7]. Due to its high frequency, biphasic stimulation is used in repetitive TMS (rTMS) protocols to promote or dampen cortical activity that lasts beyond the stimulation period [7]. In contrast, monophasic waveforms result from the dampening of a sine-wave after the first or second quarter cycle which results in a loss of energy and generates a unidirectional stimulation current [7]. The monophasic waveform is primarily used with single or paired-pulse TMS protocols to examine direction specific effects of neural pathway excitability [7].

Stimulation waveform and the resulting current induced in the brain alters the effectiveness of stimulation [33]. Efficacy can be quantified via motor evoked potential (MEP) amplitudes in response to suprathreshold stimuli that represent corticospinal excitability and resting motor thresholds (RMTs), and active motor thresholds (AMT) that represent motor cortical excitability [27]. The RMT is the minimum stimulus intensity necessary for generating a \geq 50 μ V MEP [38], and the AMT is the minimum stimulus intensity necessary for generating a $\ge 200 \ \mu V$ MEP during a sustained 20% isometric contraction [39]. MEPs indirectly measure changes in corticospinal motor pathway activation (corticomotor excitability) via an electromyography (EMG) sensor on the target muscle [7]. MEPs vary based on the waveform and direction of the current induced in the brain, being either anterior-to-posterior (AP) or posterior-to-anterior (PA) direction [33]. For instance, studies targeting distal muscles of the upper limb, such as the first dorsal interosseous (FDI), have demonstrated greater efficacy of monophasic stimulation that induces a PA current in the brain relative to biphasic stimulation that induces a PA then AP current in the brain by showing reduced RMT with monophasic PA stimulation [7,35,49]. Hereafter, monoPA refers to stimulation that induces a PA current in the brain and biPA-AP refers to stimulation that induces a PA then AP current in the brain. The reduced efficacy of bipA-AP stimulation is a result of the second (reverse) phase. The first PA phase depolarizes the neuronal membrane; the second AP phase generates current opposing the direction of the first phase, thereby activating neurons more sensitive to that particular current direction and hyperpolarizing the membrane. The second phase has a greater effect on neuronal activation than the first phase [18], and given that facilitatory corticospinal pyramidal neurons are more sensitive to the PA current direction [35], the efficacy of the bipa-AP is less than monopa when the FDI motor hotspot is stimulated.

In order to optimize the utility of TMS for clinical neurorehabilitation, an understanding of whether the effect of stimulation waveform on TMS metrics differs according to the target muscle is needed. The effect of stimulation waveform on TMS metrics have been extensively studied for hand muscles [5,7,33,35,49]. However, induced current effects on more proximal muscles of the upper limb, such as the biceps brachii, remains to be fully elucidated. Induced current effects on TMS efficacy may be different in proximal relative to distal muscles because distal muscles have a higher density of corticospinal neurons in the motor cortex [52], larger cortical motor map areas [43], differences in spontaneous motor outflow [30], and are less innervated by other pathways (e.g., cortical-reticulospinal) [23]. These characteristics correlate to corticospinal pathways to distal hand muscles being more excitable (as measured by MEPs) and less variable in response to TMS relative to proximal arm muscles when the same stimulus waveform is applied [53]. Understanding the effect of the TMS induced current in the brain on TMS metrics is critical for establishing a basis to track and predict TMS metrics in rehabilitation and the design of interventions involving TMS. For example, the presence of MEPs can indicate or predict functional recovery [44] and proximal recovery often precedes distal recovery in individuals who have suffered a spinal cord injury (SCI) [40] or stroke [43]. Also, proximal muscle neurophysiology and

function is important to monitor during recovery since proximal muscles tend to compensate for poor dexterity [3].

Despite the many studies investigating the effects of stimulus waveform on TMS metrics [5,7,33,35,49], no prior work has compared the effect of monoPA and biPA-AP stimulation on TMS metrics of a proximal arm muscle, such as the biceps brachii. Elucidating the effect of these two waveforms is needed considering biPA-AP is the most common waveform used to deliver rTMS protocols that aim to promote neuroplasticity [29,50], and monoPA is the most common waveform used to assess changes in excitability after rTMS [29,50]. Further, the intensity of rTMS is commonly set as a percent of AMT, where AMT may be determined with either biPA-AP or monoPA stimulation [50]. As clinicians and researchers design rTMS protocols targeting the biceps, it is important to know whether assessment of corticomotor excitability may differ by monoPA or biPA-AP stimulation, given that many rTMS devices only deliver biphasic stimulation. Use of a single stimulator to deliver rTMS and assess TMS metrics is advantageous regarding study design and clinical feasibility.

Thus, the primary objective of this study was to determine the effect of stimulation type (monoPA vs biPA-AP) on RMT, AMT, and MEP amplitudes in the biceps. We also tested the effect of stimulation type on RMT, AMT, and MEP amplitudes in the FDI to provide context of our cohort in light of previous findings [5,7,33,35,49]. A second objective was to determine the test-retest reliability of RMT, AMT, and MEP amplitudes for each waveform (monoPA and biPA-AP) and muscle (biceps and FDI). We hypothesized that for each muscle (biceps and FDI) the monoPA stimulation would result in lower RMT and AMT compared to the biPA-AP stimulation [49] and the monoPA stimulation would result in greater MEPs compared to the biPA-AP stimulation [8]. Furthermore, we hypothesized that the test-retest reliability of the FDI metrics would be greater relative to the biceps metrics [30,43], and that metrics taken via monoPA stimulation would have greater test-retest reliability relative to biPA-AP stimulation in both muscles [5].

3.2 Results

3.2.1 Effect of Stimulus Waveform on TMS Metrics

RMTs were lower for monoPA stimulation compared to biPA-AP stimulation for both the biceps (respectively: 60 ± 9.06 %MSO, 84 ± 11.02 %MSO, p<0.01, Figure 11) and the FDI (respectively: 48 ± 8.21 %MSO, 48 ± 8.21 %MSO, p<0.01, Figure 11). Similarly, AMTs were lower for monoPA stimulation compared to biPA-AP stimulation for both the biceps (respectively: 39 ± 9.32 %MSO, 61 ± 11.36 %MSO, p<0.01, Figure 11) and the FDI (respectively: 34 ± 11.74 %MSO, 56 ± 14.71 %MSO, p<0.01, Figure 11). Normalized MEPs in response to single pulse monoPA and biPA-AP stimulation were not different for the biceps (respectively: 185.84 ± 193.08 %MVC, 182.00 ± 244.22 %MVC, p=0.86, Figure 12). Normalized MEPs were greater with monoPA stimulation compared to biPA-AP stimulation in the FDI (respectively: 302.33 ± 276.69 %MVC, 236.19 ± 218.53 %MVC, p=0.01, Figure 12). There was no difference in MEP latencies in response to monoPA compared to biPA-AP stimulation for both the biceps (respectively: 25.55 ± 2.31 ms, 25.50 ± 1.80 ms, p=0.82, Figure 12) and the FDI (respectively: 33.98 ± 1.54 ms, 33.38 ± 5.51 ms, p=0.14, Figure 12). Even though 60% of our biceps RMTs with biPA-AP

stimulation were larger than 84% MSO, the post-hoc analysis determined that under stimulation did not affect our MEP data (p=0.18).

3.2.2 Effect of Target Muscle (Biceps or FDI) on TMS Metrics

RMTs were greater for biceps compared to FDI with both single pulse monopa (p<0.01) and bipA-AP (p<0.01) stimulation. AMTs were not different between the biceps and the FDI for both monopa (p=0.15) and bipA-AP (p=0.21) stimulation. Normalized MEPs were greater for the FDI compared to the biceps for both monopa (p<0.01) and bipA-AP (p<0.05) stimulation. MEP latencies were longer for the FDI compared to the biceps for both monopa (p<0.01) and bipA-AP (p<0.01) and bipA-AP (p<0.01) stimulation.



Figure 11: Motor thresholds were lower with mono_{PA} stimulation compared to bi_{PA-AP} stimulation in both muscles. Asterisks represent statistical difference (p<0.01) and error bars represent one standard deviation.



Figure 12: (A) Normalized MEPs did not differ between waveforms for the biceps while nMEPs were greater for FDI when obtained with mono_{PA} compared to bi_{PA-AP} stimulation. Asterisks represent statistical difference (p<0.01) and error bars represent one standard deviation. (B) Motor evoked potential latencies did not differ by stimulation type. Asterisks represent statistical difference (p<0.01) and error bars represent one standard deviation.

3.2.3 Test-Retest Reliability of TMS Metrics

The Wilcoxon matched-pairs test revealed that the RMTs and AMTs were not different between sessions (p<0.01). Thus, the RMTs and AMTs were reliable across sessions. The ICCs for nMEPs indicated very low to no reliability for mono_{PA} (0.07) and bi_{PA-AP} (0.10) in the FDI, and moderate reliability for mono_{PA} (0.72) and bi_{PA-AP} (0.56) in the biceps. Motor thresholds have equal variance (p>0.05) between sessions and nMEP amplitudes have unequal variance (p<0.05) between sessions, as per the two-sample F-test. Motor thresholds and average nMEP amplitudes are presented in Table 1 and Table 2, respectively.

		Biceps				FDI			
		mono _{PA}	bi _{PA-AP}						
Participant	Session	RMT (୨	6MSO)	AMT (9	%MSO)	RMT (୨	%MSO)	AMT (9	%MSO)
1	1	61	89	24	58	42	66	29	60
1	2	68	80	32	51	40	49	29	22
2	1	64	94	45	74	43	63	34	46
Z	2	56	93	44	67	38	47	21	23
2	1	59	87	53	69	58	76	15	70
3	2	57	94	55	82	44	81	29	72
	1	74	91	43	61	42	63	36	48
4	2	84	55	59	42	70	40	57	31
-	1	62	79	40	55	44	64	37	52
5	2	50	66	32	50	47	62	15	57
c	1	59	88	31	52	52	79	18	65
6	2	52	91	32	52	50	81	29	65
-	1	48	74	31	50	55	86	39	74
/	2	48	70	32	49	41	63	34	60
0	1	54	76	30	55	45	67	31	52
8	2	50	84	32	55	45	76	39	62
0	1	66	91	49	77	50	66	45	60
9	2	71	95	37	78	66	74	59	57
	1	62	96	44	70	46	78	43	67
10	2	57	95	39	72	50	77	43	67

 Table 1: Motor threshold metrics for each participant and session

		Bicep	S	FDI			
		mono _{PA}	bi _{PA-AP}	MONOPA	bi _{PA-AP}		
Participant	Session	nMEP Amplitudes (%MVIC)					
1	1	424.3	462.6	298.0	390.2		
T	2	649.7	909.0	332.5	38.4		
2	1	346.0	128.5	811.0	103.2		
2	2	539.4	548.0	184.3	115.7		
э	1	64.1	61.3	573.7	89.4		
3	2	126.2	198.9	42.2	600.8		
Λ	1	19.4	17.3	119.9	116.1		
4	2	18.0	20.0	230.4	204.6		
F	1	123.7	212.9	70.9	76.5		
5	2	209.0	238.0	391.7	131.9		
c	1	59.8	58.6	86.3	129.7		
0	2	51.6	77.1	138.3	311.2		
7	1	76.3	101.1	226.6	121.6		
/	2	129.7	84.6	127.3	290.6		
o	1	68.1	66.6	149.9	165.9		
o	2	78.1	68.1	185.0	178.7		
٥	1	112.1	41.5	596.2	210.1		
3	2	115.6	81.0	75.9	216.6		
10	1	298.2	157.8	747.3	834.0		
10	2	207.5	107.1	659.2	398.6		

Table 2: Average nMEP amplitudes for each participant and session

3.3 Discussion

The primary objective of this study was to determine the effect of stimulation type (monoPA vs biPA-AP) on RMT, AMT, and MEP amplitudes in the biceps in nonimpaired individuals. We also tested the effect of stimulation type on RMT, AMT, and MEP amplitudes in the FDI to provide context of our participant cohort in light of previous findings. We hypothesized that for each muscle (biceps and FDI), mono_{PA} stimulation would result in lower RMT and AMT compared to the bipa-ap stimulation and the monopa stimulation would result in greater nMEPs compared to the bipA-AP stimulation. This hypothesis was supported in the FDI, and is consistent with existing literature [5,7,33,35,49]. This hypothesis was partially supported in the biceps; RMTs and AMTs for the biceps were lower with monoPA stimulation compared to biPA-AP stimulation, but biceps nMEP amplitudes did not differ between the waveforms. Regarding our second objective of investigating reliability between two sessions, we hypothesized that the testretest reliability of the FDI metrics would be greater relative to the biceps metrics. This hypothesis was not supported; there was no difference in reliability in motor thresholds due to muscle, and the biceps nMEP amplitudes had greater reliability than the FDI nMEPs. We also hypothesized that TMS metrics recorded via monopa stimulation would have greater test-retest reliability relative to biPA-AP stimulation. This hypothesis was

partially supported in the biceps; monoPA stimulation had greater reliability relative to biPA-AP, albeit both were in the range of moderate reliability, for nMEP amplitudes, but equivalent reliability for motor threshold metrics. This hypothesis was not supported in the FDI; monoPA stimulation had similar reliability relative to biPA-AP for nMEP amplitudes and equivalent reliability for motor thresholds. Our results provide a framework for expected TMS metrics obtained with common stimulus waveforms when assessing the FDI or biceps. Although the FDI and biceps vary in cortical representation and have different volume and density of corticospinal neurons, our results suggest that current TMS waveform research on upper limb distal muscles is translatable to proximal muscles for motor thresholds but not for MEPs, and test-retest reliability and nMEPs are sensitive to difference in muscles and lack intermuscular reliability.

3.3.1 The effect of waveform on RMT, AMT, and nMEPs

Stimulus waveform affected the biceps and FDI motor thresholds similarly. RMTs and AMTs were lower with monoPA stimulation in both the biceps and the FDI compared to biPA-AP, suggesting that cortico-cortical connectivity in these regions have similar responses to stimulation [57]. However, biceps nMEPs were unaffected by the waveform type whereas FDI nMEPs were greater with monoPA compared to biPA-AP stimulation. This suggests that the neural architecture of instantaneous excitement [30] and corticospinal tract responsiveness [57] differs by motor control region.

3.3.2 The effect of waveform on MEP latencies

We reported the effect of stimulus waveform on MEP latencies because MEP latencies are typically less variable relative to MEP amplitudes [47] and latencies represent conduction velocity, which is relevant to neurorehabilitation. We found no effect of stimulus waveform on biceps MEP latencies, although many biceps MEPs were not assessed at suprathreshold intensities. However, even though our MEP latencies (average: 25 ms for proximal, 33 ms for distal) are slightly larger than current literature (average: 14 ms for proximal. 22 ms for distal), our distributions and difference in latencies between proximal and distal muscles are similar to previously reported [16,47,55]. Furthermore, our findings complement previous work [24] by showing differences in the effect of a PA current and a more complex waveform that stimulates multiple neuron pools [49]. While AP currents are associated with longer MEP latencies [24], a biphasic waveform activates both AP and PA-sensitive [49]. Therefore, the neuron pools associated with sensitivity to specific current direction could play a role in conduction velocity of the overall pathway. There was also no waveform effect on the MEP latencies in the FDI; monopa and bipa-ap stimulation generated similar latencies within each muscle. However, there has been mixed results when comparing current direction and waveform effects on MEP latencies [11]. For example, no waveform effects were seen in MEP latencies when comparing monoAP and biAP-PA stimulation [7]. The mixed results, specifically for the bipa-AP waveform, is likely a result of the initial PA phase. Even though the second phase in biphasic stimulation is the strongest [18,49], the threshold is lower for PA current, relative to AP, given that facilitatory corticospinal pyramidal neurons are more sensitive to PA current [35]. The reduced threshold provides the PA current with the opportunity to stimulate cortical neurons guicker and

have a more prominent effect than the AP phase, even when the AP current is induced prior to PA current in bi_{AP-PA} stimulation [11,49]. Thus, generating mixed waveform effect results. Our MEP latencies between muscles were expected [14]; the FDI demonstrated longer latencies compared to the biceps for both mono_{PA} and bi_{PA-AP} stimulation.

3.3.3 The effect of waveform on test-retest reliability

Test-retest reliability of TMS metrics has previously been studied on upper limb distal muscles comparing waveforms [5] and monophasic stimulation comparing upper limb distal and proximal muscles [43]. Our motor thresholds were consistent with previously reported results that demonstrated strong reliability between sessions for the FDI [4,5,30] and the biceps [43]. Our nMEPs, showing poor reliability in the FDI and moderate reliability in the biceps, were inconsistent with previous findings that demonstrated moderate to high reliability in the FDI [4,5,30], and poor reliability in the biceps [43]. Furthermore, our nMEPs had similar reliability between waveforms for both muscles, whereas opposing reliability between waveforms has been seen in the FDI [5]. It is well established that MEPs are highly variable [5,43] and current direction also influences the variability of MEPs [33]. This was supported by our post-hoc, in which nMEPs had unequal variance between sessions, whereas the more reliable motor thresholds exhibited equal variance between sessions for both muscles and waveforms. Additionally, similar to our results, reliability in the FDI has been reported to be less reliable than the biceps [25]. Potential contributions to the variability of MEPs across studies are differences in number of sessions [7,25], number of subjects [21,25], navigated stimulation [5,7], and suprathreshold intensity (i.e., determined via fixed portion of MSO [48] or via specific percentage of RMT [7]), to name a few. Our data suggests that target muscle is a major factor in the reliability of TMS metrics while at rest, while the direction of induced current in the brain does not significantly affect intramuscular reliability.

Preliminary investigation, while promising, suggests that current TMS waveform research on upper limb distal muscles is translatable to proximal muscles for motor thresholds but not for MEPs, despite differences in cortical representation, matching conventional expectations in both targets [5,35,43,49]. Additionally, test-retest reliability and nMEPs are more sensitive to these differences, and lack intermuscular reliability, resulting in conventional expectations not translating from the FDI to the biceps [5,35,43,49]. These findings can aid future, larger studies in optimizing TMS parameters to maximize the efficacy and reliability of TMS for clinical use. The efficacy of TMS for clinical use will be most notable when there is a deeper understanding in the effects waveforms and induced neuronal current directions have on outcome metrics and their role in monitoring recovery.

Chapter 4: Conclusions and Future Directions

Despite the many studies investigating the effects of stimulus waveform on TMS metrics, no prior work has compared the effect of monopa and bipa-ap stimulation on

TMS metrics of a proximal arm muscle, such as the biceps brachii. Elucidating the effect of these two waveforms is needed considering bi_{PA-AP} is the most common waveform used to deliver rTMS protocols that aim to promote neuroplasticity, and mono_{PA} is the most common waveform used to assess changes in excitability after rTMS. Further, the intensity of rTMS is commonly set as a percent of AMT, where AMT may be determined with either bi_{PA-AP} or mono_{PA} stimulation. As clinicians and researchers design rTMS protocols targeting the biceps, it is important to known whether assessment of corticomotor excitability may differ by mono_{PA} and bi_{PA-AP} stimulation, given that many rTMS devices only deliver biphasic stimulation. Use of a single stimulator to deliver TMS and assess TMS metrics is advantageous regarding study design and clinical feasibility.

4.1 Work Completed

The primary objective of this study was to determine the effect of stimulation type (monoPA vs biPA-AP) on RMT, AMT, and MEP amplitudes in the biceps and the FDI. A second objective was to determine the test-retest reliability of RMT, AMT, and MEP amplitudes for each waveform (monoPA and biPA-AP) and muscle (biceps and FDI). Twelve individuals were recruited for this study, but data from two participants were excluded because their RMT with biPA-AP stimulation could not be determined within the MSO range of our system. Participants were tested across two sessions, each consisting of both waveforms and both muscles. The expectation was that for each muscle (biceps and FDI) the monoPA stimulation would result in lower RMT and AMT compared to the biPA-AP stimulation. Furthermore, we expected the test-retest reliability of the FDI metrics would be greater relative to the biceps metrics, and that metrics taken via monoPA stimulation would have greater test-retest reliability relative to biPA-AP stimulation in both muscles.

4.2 Key Takeaways

Stimulus waveform affected the biceps and FDI motor thresholds similarly. RMTs and AMTs were lower with monoPA stimulation in both the biceps and the FDI compared to biPA-AP, suggesting that cortico-cortical connectivity in these regions have similar responses to stimulation [57]. However, biceps nMEPs were unaffected by the waveform type whereas FDI nMEPs were greater with monoPA compared to biPA-AP stimulation. This suggests that the neural architecture of instantaneous excitement [30] and corticospinal tract responsiveness [57] differs by motor control region.

We found no effect of stimulus waveform on biceps MEP latencies, although many biceps MEPs were not assessed at suprathreshold intensities. However, even though our MEP latencies (average: 25 ms for proximal, 33 ms for distal) are slightly larger than current literature (average: 14 ms for proximal. 22 ms for distal), our distributions and difference in latencies between proximal and distal muscles are similar to previously reported [16,47,55]. There was also no waveform effect on the MEP latencies in the FDI; monopa and bipa-ap stimulation generated similar latencies within each muscle. Even though the second phase in biphasic stimulation is the strongest [18,49], the threshold is lower for PA current, relative to AP, given that facilitatory corticospinal pyramidal neurons are more sensitive to PA current [35]. Thus, generating mixed waveform effect results. Our MEP latencies between muscles were expected [14]; the FDI demonstrated longer latencies compared to the biceps for both monoPA and biPA-AP stimulation.

Our motor thresholds reliability were consistent with previously reported results that demonstrated strong reliability between sessions for the FDI [4,5,30] and the biceps [43]. Our nMEPs, showing poor reliability in the FDI and moderate reliability in the biceps, were inconsistent with previous findings that demonstrated moderate to high reliability in the FDI [4,5,30], and poor reliability in the biceps [43]. Furthermore, our nMEPs had similar reliability between waveforms for both muscles, whereas opposing reliability between waveforms has been seen in the FDI [5]. Similar to our results, reliability in the FDI has been reported to be less reliable than the biceps [25]. Potential contributions to the variability of MEPs across studies are differences in number of sessions [7,25], number of subjects [21,25], navigated stimulation [5,7], and suprathreshold intensity (i.e., determined via fixed portion of MSO [48] or via specific percentage of RMT [7]), to name a few.

The work from this thesis showed two significant findings. First, current TMS waveform research on upper limb distal muscles is translatable to proximal muscles for motor thresholds but not for MEPs. Second, test-retest reliability and nMEPs are more sensitive to the differences in cortical representation between proximal and distal muscles of the upper limb and lack intermuscular reliability, resulting in conventional expectations not translating from the FDI to the biceps. These findings can aid future, larger studies in optimizing TMS parameters to maximize the efficacy and reliability of TMS for clinical use.

4.3 Limitations

One limitation of our study is that 60% of our biceps biPA-AP RMT values were larger than 84% MSO, therefore suprathreshold biPA-AP stimulation of 120% RMT to the biceps was not always attainable [3,4]. However, a post-hoc analysis determined that under stimulation did not affect our MEP data. Additionally, we did not record I-waves/D-waves which are a much more informative measurement regarding the effect of stimulus waveform [6]. However, measuring these is an invasive procedure adding to the complexity of the study. Furthermore, MEPs showed that our test-retest reliability contradicted previous reliability findings in the FDI [4,5,30] and the biceps [43]. We collected MEPs as they are a widely used noninvasive metric of corticomotor excitability, conventionally elicited from a suprathreshold stimulus that scales from a percentage of RMT [7,27,43,44]. It is well established however that MEPs are highly variable [5,43]. Efforts to reduce MEP variability are ongoing, with studies suggesting: the most ideal number of MEPs to record is 30 [46], removing the first few MEPs in any train [21], and recording MEPs during a slight voluntary contraction [43]. These

measures were not accounted for in this study, though, as they are in the early stages of proposal.

4.4 Future Directions

The findings from this study provide several opportunities for future research. First, additional studies are needed to help understand the variable responses that are associated with MEPs. These could be conducted through computational modeling or additional non-impaired studies which aim to develop a universal standard for the recording the most reliable MEPs. Several factors contribute the variability including: number of sessions [7,25], navigated stimulation [5,7], suprathreshold intensity (i.e., determined via fixed portion of MSO [48] or via specific percentage of RMT [7]), and various percentages of RMT [7,39,43]. While MEPs are highly variable, epidural recordings of I-waves and D-waves could provide a more informative measurement regarding the effect of stimulus waveform [6]. This could be of great benefit to the research community and clinicians if we can reduce the variability of MEPs across individuals and studies.

Furthermore, this study only utilized single pulse stimulation whereas future studies should research waveform effects on other types of stimulation including paired-pulse and rTMS on proximal muscles. Induced current direction in the brain has been shown to affect the plastic after-effects of rTMS [50] as well as inhibition and facilitation of paired-pulse stimulation [5], however this research is majorly studied in distal muscles of the upper limb. Traditionally, biphasic stimulation is used for delivering rTMS [48] and monophasic is used for paired-pulse protocols [5]. Additionally, monophasic is the most common waveform to assess changes in excitability following rTMS. Being that paired-pulse and rTMS are primarily implemented with one particular waveform, this future research would be beneficial because use of a single stimulator is advantageous regarding study design and clinical feasibility.

References

- Arai, N., Okabe, S., Furubayashi, T., Terao, Y., Yuasa, K., & Ugawa, Y. (2005). Comparison between short train, monophasic and biphasic repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation (rTMS) of the human motor cortex. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, *116*(3), 605–613. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2004.09.020</u>
- Borckardt, J. J., Nahas, Z., Koola, J., & George, M. S. (2006). Estimating Resting Motor Thresholds in Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation Research and Practice. *The Journal of ECT*, 22(3), 169–175. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.yct.0000235923.52741.72
- 3. Canning, C. G., Ada, L., & O'Dwyer, N. J. (2000). Abnormal muscle activation characteristics associated with loss of dexterity after stroke. *Journal of the*

Neurological Sciences, *176*(1), 45–56. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-510X(00)00305-1</u>

- Corneal, S. F., Butler, A. J., & Wolf, S. L. (2005). Intra- and Intersubject Reliability of Abductor Pollicis Brevis Muscle Motor Map Characteristics With Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, *86*(8), 1670–1675. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apmr.2004.12.039</u>
- Davila-Pérez, P., Jannati, A., Fried, P. J., Cudeiro Mazaira, J., & Pascual-Leone, A. (2018). The Effects of Waveform and Current Direction on the Efficacy and Test– Retest Reliability of Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation. *Neuroscience*, 393, 97–109. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2018.09.044</u>
- Davila-Pérez, P., Pascual-Leone, A., & Cudeiro, J. (2019). Effects of Transcranial Static Magnetic Stimulation on Motor Cortex Evaluated by Different TMS Waveforms and Current Directions. *Neuroscience*, *413*, 22–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2019.05.065
- Delvendahl, I., Gattinger, N., Berger, T., Gleich, B., Siebner, H. R., & Mall, V. (2014). The Role of Pulse Shape in Motor Cortex Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation Using Full-Sine Stimuli. *PLoS ONE*, *9*(12), e115247. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0115247
- Delvendahl, I., Jung, N. H., Kuhnke, N. G., Ziemann, U., & Mall, V. (2012). Plasticity of motor threshold and motor-evoked potential amplitude – A model of intrinsic and synaptic plasticity in human motor cortex? *Brain Stimulation*, *5*(4), 586–593. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2011.11.005</u>
- 9. Deng, Z.-D., Lisanby, S. H., & Peterchev, A. V. (2013). Electric field depth–focality tradeoff in transcranial magnetic stimulation: Simulation comparison of 50 coil designs. *Brain Stimulation*, *6*(1), 1–13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2012.02.005</u>
- 10. Derosiere, G., Vassiliadis, P., & Duque, J. (2020). Advanced TMS approaches to probe corticospinal excitability during action preparation. *NeuroImage*, *213*, 116746. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2020.116746</u>
- 11. Di Lazzaro, V., Oliviero, A., Mazzone, P., Insola, A., Pilato, F., Saturno, E., Accurso, A., Tonali, P., & Rothwell, J. (2001). Comparison of descending volleys evoked by monophasic and biphasic magnetic stimulation of the motor cortex in conscious humans. *Experimental Brain Research*, 141(1), 121–127. https://doi.org/10.1007/s002210100863
- 12. Di Lazzaro, V., & Rothwell, J. C. (2014). Corticospinal activity evoked and modulated by non-invasive stimulation of the intact human motor cortex. *The Journal of Physiology*, 592(19), 4115–4128. <u>https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2014.274316</u>
- 13. Di Lazzaro, V., & Ziemann, U. (2013). The contribution of transcranial magnetic stimulation in the functional evaluation of microcircuits in human motor cortex. *Frontiers in Neural Circuits*, 7. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fncir.2013.00018</u>
- 14. Fadini, T., Matthäus, L., Rothkegel, H., Sommer, M., Tergau, F., Schweikard, A., Paulus, W., & Nitsche, M. A. (2009). H-coil: Induced electric field properties and input/output curves on healthy volunteers, comparison with a standard figure-of-eight coil. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, *120*(6), 1174–1182. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2009.02.176
- 15. Felten, D. L., O'Banion, M. K., Maida, M. S., & Netter, F. H. (2016). *Netter's atlas of neuroscience* (3rd edition). Elsevier.

- Furby, A., Bourriez, J. L., Jacquesson, J. M., Mounier-Vehier, F., & Guieu, J. D. (1992). Motor evoked potentials to magnetic stimulation: Technical considerations and normative data from 50 subjects. *Journal of Neurology*, 239(3), 152–156. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00833916</u>
- 17. Gardener, M. (2012). Statistics for ecologists using R and Excel: Data collection, exploration, analysis and presentation. Pelagic Pub.
- Groppa, S., Oliviero, A., Eisen, A., Quartarone, A., Cohen, L. G., Mall, V., Kaelin-Lang, A., Mima, T., Rossi, S., Thickbroom, G. W., Rossini, P. M., Ziemann, U., Valls-Solé, J., & Siebner, H. R. (2012). A practical guide to diagnostic transcranial magnetic stimulation: Report of an IFCN committee. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, *123*(5), 858–882. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2012.01.010</u>
- Halaki, M., & Gi, K. (2012). Normalization of EMG Signals: To Normalize or Not to Normalize and What to Normalize to? In G. R. Naik (Ed.), *Computational Intelligence in Electromyography Analysis—A Perspective on Current Applications and Future Challenges*. InTech. <u>https://doi.org/10.5772/49957</u>
- 20. Hannah, R., & Rothwell, J. C. (2017). Pulse Duration as Well as Current Direction Determines the Specificity of Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation of Motor Cortex during Contraction. *Brain Stimulation*, *10*(1), 106–115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2016.09.008
- Hashemirad, F., Zoghi, M., Fitzgerald, Pb., & Jaberzadeh, S. (2017). Reliability of Motor Evoked Potentials Induced by Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation: The Effects of Initial Motor Evoked Potentials Removal. *Basic and Clinical Neuroscience Journal*, 8(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.15412/J.BCN.03080106</u>
- 22. J Nelson, A. (2014). Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation to Investigate Motor Cortical Circuitry and Plasticity in Spinal Cord Injury. *Journal of Neurology & Stroke*, 1(2). https://doi.org/10.15406/jnsk.2014.01.00009
- 23. Jankowska, E., & Edgley, S. A. (2006). How Can Corticospinal Tract Neurons Contribute to Ipsilateral Movements? A Question With Implications for Recovery of Motor Functions. *The Neuroscientist*, 12(1), 67–79. https://doi.org/10.1177/1073858405283392
- 24. Jung, N. H., Delvendahl, I., Pechmann, A., Gleich, B., Gattinger, N., Siebner, H. R., & Mall, V. (2012). Transcranial magnetic stimulation with a half-sine wave pulse elicits direction-specific effects in human motor cortex. *BMC Neuroscience*, *13*(1), 139. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2202-13-139</u>
- 25. Kamen, G. (2004). Reliability of Motor-Evoked Potentials during Resting and Active Contraction Conditions: *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, *36*(9), 1574–1579. https://doi.org/10.1249/01.MSS.0000139804.02576.6A
- 26. Kammer, T., Beck, S., Thielscher, A., Laubis-Herrmann, U., & Topka, H. (2001). Motor thresholds in humans: A transcranial magnetic stimulation study comparing different pulse waveforms, current directions and stimulator types. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, *112*(2), 250–258. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S1388-2457(00)00513-7</u>
- 27. Klomjai, W., Katz, R., & Lackmy-Vallée, A. (2015). Basic principles of transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) and repetitive TMS (rTMS). *Annals of Physical and Rehabilitation Medicine*, *58*(4), 208–213. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rehab.2015.05.005</u>

- 28. Laakso, I., Murakami, T., Hirata, A., & Ugawa, Y. (2018). Where and what TMS activates: Experiments and modeling. *Brain Stimulation*, *11*(1), 166–174. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2017.09.011</u>
- 29. Lefaucheur, J.-P., & Nguyen, J.-P. (2019). A practical algorithm for using rTMS to treat patients with chronic pain. *Neurophysiologie Clinique*, *49*(4), 301–307. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neucli.2019.07.014</u>
- Malcolm, M., Triggs, W., Light, K., Shechtman, O., Khandekar, G., & Gonzalezrothi, L. (2006). Reliability of motor cortex transcranial magnetic stimulation in four muscle representations. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, *117*(5), 1037–1046. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2006.02.005</u>
- 31. Martini, F., Tallitsch, R. B., & Nath, J. L. (2018). *Human anatomy* (Ninth edition). Pearson.
- 32. McGraw, K. O., & Wong, S. P. (1996). Forming inferences about some intraclass correlation coefficients. *Psychological Methods*, *1*(1), 30–46. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/1082-989X.1.1.30</u>
- 33. Orth, M., & Rothwell, J. C. (2004). The cortical silent period: Intrinsic variability and relation to the waveform of the transcranial magnetic stimulation pulse. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, *115*(5), 1076–1082. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2003.12.025</u>
- 34. Palmer, E., & Ashby, P. (1992). Corticospinal projections to upper limb motoneurones in humans. *The Journal of Physiology*, *448*(1), 397–412. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.1992.sp019048
- 35. Pell, G. S., Roth, Y., & Zangen, A. (2011). Modulation of cortical excitability induced by repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation: Influence of timing and geometrical parameters and underlying mechanisms. *Progress in Neurobiology*, *93*(1), 59–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pneurobio.2010.10.003
- 36. Pisoni, A., Vergallito, A., Mattavelli, G., Varoli, E., Fecchio, M., Rosanova, M., Casali, A. G., & Romero Lauro, L. J. (2018). TMS orientation and pulse waveform manipulation activates different neural populations: Direct evidence from TMS-EEG [Preprint]. Neuroscience. <u>https://doi.org/10.1101/308981</u>
- 37. Portney, L. G. (2020). Foundations of clinical research: Applications to evidencebased practice (Fourth edition). F.A. Davis.
- Rossini, P. M., Berardelli, A., Deuschl, G., Hallett, M., Maertens de Noordhout, A. M., Paulus, W., & Pauri, F. (1999). Applications of magnetic cortical stimulation. The International Federation of Clinical Neurophysiology. *Electroencephalography and clinical neurophysiology. Supplement*, 52, 171-185.
- Rossini, P. M., Burke, D., Chen, R., Cohen, L. G., Daskalakis, Z., Di Iorio, R., Di Lazzaro, V., Ferreri, F., Fitzgerald, P. B., George, M. S., Hallett, M., Lefaucheur, J. P., Langguth, B., Matsumoto, H., Miniussi, C., Nitsche, M. A., Pascual-Leone, A., Paulus, W., Rossi, S., ... Ziemann, U. (2015). Non-invasive electrical and magnetic stimulation of the brain, spinal cord, roots and peripheral nerves: Basic principles and procedures for routine clinical and research application. An updated report from an I.F.C.N. Committee. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, *126*(6), 1071–1107. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2015.02.001</u>
- 40. Rudhe, C., & van Hedel, H. J. A. (2009). Upper Extremity Function in Persons with Tetraplegia: Relationships Between Strength, Capacity, and the Spinal Cord

Independence Measure. *Neurorehabilitation and Neural Repair*, 23(5), 413–421. https://doi.org/10.1177/1545968308331143

- 41. Saladin, K. S. (2003). Anatomy & physiology: the unity of form and function. Mcgraw-Hill.
- 42. Saladin, K. S., Sullivan, S. J., & Gan, C. A. (2017). *Human anatomy* (Fifth edition). MHE.
- 43. Sankarasubramanian, V., Roelle, S. M., Bonnett, C. E., Janini, D., Varnerin, N. M., Cunningham, D. A., Sharma, J. S., Potter-Baker, K. A., Wang, X., Yue, G. H., & Plow, E. B. (2015). Reproducibility of transcranial magnetic stimulation metrics in the study of proximal upper limb muscles. *Journal of Electromyography and Kinesiology*, 25(5), 754–764. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jelekin.2015.05.006</u>
- 44. Schambra, H. M., Xu, J., Branscheidt, M., Lindquist, M., Uddin, J., Steiner, L., Hertler, B., Kim, N., Berard, J., Harran, M. D., Cortes, J. C., Kitago, T., Luft, A., Krakauer, J. W., & Celnik, P. A. (2020). *Differential Poststroke Motor Recovery in an Arm Versus Hand Muscle in the Absence of Motor Evoked Potentials*. 23.
- 45. Schwartz, C., Tubez, F., Wang, F.-C., Croisier, J.-L., Brüls, O., Denoël, V., & Forthomme, B. (2017). Normalizing shoulder EMG: An optimal set of maximum isometric voluntary contraction tests considering reproducibility. *Journal of Electromyography and Kinesiology*, 37, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jelekin.2017.08.005
- 46. Sivaramakrishnan, A., & Madhavan, S. (2020). Stimulus Intensity Affects Variability of Motor Evoked Responses of the Non-Paretic, but Not Paretic Tibialis Anterior Muscle in Stroke. *Brain Sciences*, *10*(5), 297. https://doi.org/10.3390/brainsci10050297
- Sollmann, N., Bulubas, L., Tanigawa, N., Zimmer, C., Meyer, B., & Krieg, S. M. (2017). The variability of motor evoked potential latencies in neurosurgical motor mapping by preoperative navigated transcranial magnetic stimulation. *BMC Neuroscience*, *18*(1), 5. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12868-016-0321-4</u>
- 48. Sommer, M., Alfaro, A., Rummel, M., Speck, S., Lang, N., Tings, T., & Paulus, W. (2006). Half sine, monophasic and biphasic transcranial magnetic stimulation of the human motor cortex. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, *117*(4), 838–844. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2005.10.029
- Sommer, M., Ciocca, M., Chieffo, R., Hammond, P., Neef, A., Paulus, W., Rothwell, J. C., & Hannah, R. (2018). TMS of primary motor cortex with a biphasic pulse activates two independent sets of excitable neurones. *Brain Stimulation*, *11*(3), 558– 565. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2018.01.001</u>
- 50. Sommer, M., Norden, C., Schmack, L., Rothkegel, H., Lang, N., & Paulus, W. (2013). Opposite Optimal Current Flow Directions for Induction of Neuroplasticity and Excitation Threshold in the Human Motor Cortex. *Brain Stimulation*, *6*(3), 363–370. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2012.07.003
- 51. Tortora, G. J., & Derrickson, B. (2017). *Principles of anatomy and physiology*. https://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/brunelu/detail.action?docID=6488475
- 52. Turton, A., & Lemon, R. N. (1999). The contribution of fast corticospinal input to the voluntary activation of proximal muscles in normal subjects and in stroke patients. *Experimental Brain Research*, *129*(4), 0559–0572. https://doi.org/10.1007/s002210050926

- 53. van Kuijk, A. A., Anker, L. C., Pasman, J. W., Hendriks, J. C. M., van Elswijk, G., & Geurts, A. C. H. (2009). Stimulus–response characteristics of motor evoked potentials and silent periods in proximal and distal upper-extremity muscles. *Journal of Electromyography and Kinesiology*, *19*(4), 574–583. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jelekin.2008.02.006</u>
- 54. Wasserman, E., Epstein, C. M., & Ziemann, U. (Eds.). (2008). *The Oxford handbook of transcranial stimulation*. Oxford University Press.
- Yook, S.-W., Park, S.-H., Ko, M.-H., & Seo, J.-H. (2011). Motor Evoked Potentials of the Upper Extremities in Healthy Children. *Annals of Rehabilitation Medicine*, *35*(6), 759. <u>https://doi.org/10.5535/arm.2011.35.6.759</u>
- 56. Ziemann, U. (2020). I-waves in motor cortex revisited. *Experimental Brain Research*, 238(7–8), 1601–1610. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-020-05764-4</u>
- 57. Ziemann, U., Reis, J., Schwenkreis, P., Rosanova, M., Strafella, A., Badawy, R., & Müller-Dahlhaus, F. (2015). TMS and drugs revisited 2014. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, *126*(10), 1847–1868. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2014.08.028</u>

Appendix A: Conference Abstracts

SB³C2021 Summer Biomechanics, Bioengineering and Biotransport Conference June 14-18, Virtual

EFFECT OF STIMULUS WAVEFORM ON TRANSCRANIAL MAGNETIC STIMULATION METRICS IN PROXIMAL AND DISTAL ARM MUSCLES

Christopher S. Lynch (1), Thibault Roumengous (1), Carrie L. Peterson (1)

(1) Department of Biomedical Engineering Virginia Commonwealth University Richmond, VA, USA

INTRODUCTION

Transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) is useful for modulating neural activity when applied repetitively or assessing neural pathway excitability when applied in single or dual pulse paradigms [1]. TMS devices generate one of two types of stimulus waveforms, monophasic or biphasic, which have dissimilar neuronal activation and therefore different impacts on stimulation characteristics [2]. To date, research on the effects of waveform has been conducted on upper limb distal muscles, such as the first dorsal interosseous (FDI). Research in the FDI has shown greater efficacy in the monophasic stimuli (when the induced brain current is in the posterior-anterior direction) demonstrated via reduced motor threshold's (MTs) [2]. This is likely a result of the 2nd phase in biphasic stimulation as the 2nd phase not only reduces the activation time and thus the effectiveness of the initial phase, but activates different neurons that have different sensitivity to each current direction [2]. Additionally, FDI research has shown that MTs and motor evoked potential's (MEPs) are inversely correlated due to their role in measuring intrinsic and synaptic plasticity, respectively [3]. However, the FDI has more available motor neurons than the biceps brachii (BB) at equivalent force levels [4]. Therefore, conclusions regarding neuroplastic effects drawn from the numerous TMS studies using upper limb distal muscles may not necessarily apply to other muscle groups, particularly upper limb proximal muscles. This presents a clinical need as TMS is increasingly being utilized for neurorehabilitation as an adjunct to conventional physical therapy, especially spinal cord injury (SCI) which affects entire extremities [5].

The purpose of this study is to determine the effect of TMS waveforms (monophasic vs biphasic) on important TMS metrics and determine if muscle groups (i.e. upper limb proximal vs distal) have any effect on these outcome metrics. We hypothesize that monophasic stimulation will result in lower MTs, both resting MT (RMT) and active MT (AMT), compared to biphasic [2], however the opposite will occur for normalized MEPs (nMEPs) resulting in greater nMEPs for monophasic compared to biphasic stimulation, for both muscles [3]. Furthermore, we hypothesize that an upper limb proximal muscle (BB) will have statistically different MTs, RMT and AMT, as well as nMEPs compared to the upper limb distal muscle (FDI) for both waveforms.

METHODS

Experimental Set-up: Ten individuals aged 25.0 ± 3.22 years (3 female, 7 male) were recruited for this study which was approved by the Institutional Review Board (IRB) at Virginia Commonwealth University. Surface electromyogram (EMG) electrodes were located over the primary target muscles (BB and FDI) before determining the cortical hotspot, maximum voluntary contraction (MVC), RMT, and AMT. TMS stimulation was applied via a Magstim® BiStim² stimulator (monophasic) and Magstim[®] Super Rapid² Plus¹ stimulator (biphasic), both via a Magstim® D70 Alpha flat (uncoated) figure-eight coil. The coil was oriented similarly for each waveform (i.e. perpendicular to the central sulcus) as to induce a biphasic posterior-anterior/anteriorposterior (PA/AP) current and a monophasic PA current in the motor cortex. RMT was determined as the lowest stimulus intensity that induced MEPs of \ge 50 μ V in at least 5 of 10 consecutive stimuli with the target muscle fully relaxed. With visual feedback provided, participants sustained an isometric contraction of $20 \pm 2.5\%$ MVC of the target muscle during which the AMT was determined as the stimulus intensity that elicited a MEP $\ge 200 \mu V$ in at least 5 of 10 consecutive stimuli. Lastly, 10 single pulse MEPs were recorded at 120% RMT for each waveform

Data and Statistical Analysis: Statistical analyses were performed using MATLAB (MathWorks (2020)) and GraphPad Prism. RMT, AMT, and nMEPs were compared between monophasic and biphasic waveforms using a two sampled t-test with unequal variance. Additionally, RMT, AMT, and nMEPs were compared between BB and FDI using an ANOVA with interactions.

RESULTS

BB RMTs were significantly lower for monophasic (60.1 ± 9.06 %MSO) than for biphasic (84.4 ± 11.02 %MSO) (p<0.01). FDI RMTs were also significantly lower for monophasic (48.4 ± 8.2 %MSO) than for biphasic (67.9 ± 11.94 %MSO) (p<0.01). BB AMTs were significantly lower for monophasic (39.2 ± 9.3 %MSO) than for biphasic (60.9 ± 11.4 %MSO) (p<0.01). FDI AMTs were also significantly lower for monophasic (34.1 ± 11.7 %MSO) than for biphasic (55.5 ± 14.7 %MSO) (p<0.01) (Figure 1).



Figure 1: Left: Biceps MTs, are significantly greater for biphasic compared to monophasic. Right: FDI MTs, are significantly greater for biphasic compared to monophasic. Asterisks represent statistical difference (p<0.01) and error bars represent standard the error of the mean (SEM).

BB nMEPs present no significant difference between monophasic ($6.20\pm19.55 \ \mu V\%MVC$) and biphasic ($6.56\pm21.38 \ \mu V\%MVC$) (p=0.88). However, FDI nMEPs were significantly greater for monophasic ($3.02\pm2.37 \ \mu V\%MVC$) compared to biphasic ($2.36\pm1.91 \ \mu V\%MVC$) (p=0.01) (Figure 2).

An ANOVA revealed a statistical difference between BB and FDI for RMT (p<0.01) and nMEP (p<0.01), however, there was no significant difference for AMT (p<0.01). Additionally, there was no significant interaction amongst waveform and muscle for RMT (p=0.31), AMT (p=0.95), and nMEP (p=0.65).



Figure 2: Left: Biceps nMEPs are not significantly different between monophasic and biphasic. Right: FDI nMEPs are significantly greater for monophasic compared to biphasic. Asterisks represent statistical difference (p<0.01) and error bars represent standard the error of the mean (SEM).

DISCUSSION

There were two key outcomes of this study. First, in agreement with the literature [2], using a monophasic stimulus led to lower MTs, both RMT and AMT, for the FDI and the BB. The difference in MT is likely related to the general organization of inhibitory and facilitatory corticospinal pyramidal tract neurons and the facilitatory neurons having higher sensitivity to the PA current direction [6]. However, this also contributes to the increased MT of the biphasic PA/AP stimulation. The 2nd AP phase not only reduces the activation time and thus the effectiveness of the initial phase, but activates different neurons that have different sensitivity to each current direction [2]. Additionally, the 2nd AP phase hyperpolarizes the membrane and reduces the number of sodium ion-channels available for depolarization [6]. While MTs reflect sodium ion-channels activity which may indicate intrinsic plasticity due to long-lasting changes in neuronal excitability, analyzing MEPs provides information about synaptic plasticity, caused by long-lasting attenuation of synaptic transmission [3].

Second, while we found a significant difference in FDI nMEP amplitude between waveforms, with monophasic having greater nMEPs than biphasic [3], we did not find a significant difference in BB nMEP amplitudes between waveforms. A possible explanation of this finding could be that more distal muscles not only have larger cortical areas, but the cortical areas are also denser than proximal muscles [7]. This, in combination with proximal muscles having weaker monosynaptic input [8], could lead to relatively greater biphasic nMEPs in the BB compared to the FDI. Furthermore, Turton, et al., discovered that at lower force levels a larger number of available motor neurons are recruited for upper limb distal muscles compared to proximal muscles where greater force levels were required for the same level of neuronal activation [4]. Being that our MEPs were recorded while at rest, this is another potential reasoning for the unexpected lack of significant difference between waveforms for BB nMEPs.

One limitation of our study is the small sample size. In order to fully understand these effects for the purpose of neurorehabilitation, this study would need to be further investigated in individuals with neurological impairment. However, our preliminary data suggests that regardless of the waveform, the neuroplasticity findings from FDI research, may not necessarily be applicable to all muscles, specifically the BB. This is rationale that further investigation needs to be conducted on the intrinsic and synaptic plasticity effects on additional muscles where TMS neurorehabilitation could be advantageous.

REFERENCES

- [1] Delvendahl, I et al., PloS ONE, 9(12): e115247, 2014.
- [2] Sommer, M et al., Brain Stimulation, 11:558-565, 2018.
- [3] Delvendahl, I et al., Brain Stimulation, 5:586-593, 2012.
- [4] Turton, A et al., Experimental Brain Research, 129:559-572, 1999.
- [5] Dionísio, A et al., Journal of Stroke and Cerebrovascular Diseases, 27:1-31, 2018.
- [6] Pell, G et al., Progress in Neurobiology, 93:59-98, 2011.
- [7] Malcolm, M et al., Clinical Neurophysiology, 117:1037-1046, 2006.
- [8] Taylor, J et al., Journal of Physiology, 541:949-958, 2002.

Vita

Christopher Steven Lynch was born October 26th, 1993 in Durham, North Carolina where he was raised. He graduated from C.E. Jordan High School in 2012 and went on to attend Virginia Commonwealth University to pursue a bachelor's degree in engineering. Concluding his second year at VCU, he transferred to North Carolina State University to pursue a bachelor's in Biomedical Engineering. During his undergraduate studies, Chris worked on a new clinical solution to preexisting endotracheal tube cuff's which can leak during long-term intubation causing ventilator associated pneumonia. After graduating in spring 2017, Chris worked full time for then next year in the Brain Injury Translational Research Center at Duke University working on developing new approaches to patient monitoring that will integrate patient physiologic monitoring with brain activity recorded by electroencephalography (EEG). In fall 2018, Chris began attending VCU as a master student pursuing a degree in Biomedical Engineering. He joined the Rehabilitation Engineering to Advance Ability Lab (REALab) under Dr. Carrie Peterson to study the effects of stimulus waveform on transcranial magnetic stimulation metrics in proximal and distal arm muscles. While completing his graduate degree and research, Chris worked part time in VCU's Physiology & Biophysics Department as a lab/research technician assistant performing animal tissue histology, collecting images from an electron microscope, and image processing. He hopes to use these experiences in the future to aid him in developing innovative devices or software for neurorehabilitation.